Oakham Historical Association

P.O. Box 236, 1221 Old Turnpike Road, Oakham, MA 01068 -+ 508-882-3111
www.oakhamhistory.com (/n progress) E-mail: admin@oakhamhistory.com

The Oakham Historical
Museum is one of the
town’s oldest buildings.
Although the exact date
on which it was built is
unknown, it is recorded
in a land transfer on
August 25, 1773.

Upcoming Events

September 22, 1-4p
Museum Open

October 5, noon to dusk
Oaktober Fest 2013
Oakham Parks & Recreation
OHA will set up a table.

October 5, 4p
Great American Ball Roll
on Maple Street
Oakham Parks & Recreation
and
Fobes Memorial Library

October 27 , 1—4p
Museum Open
Final Sunday open house until
May 25, 2014. An appoint-
ment can be arranged by
calling 508-882-5570

November 23, 9-2
Harvest & Holly Craft Fair
Oakham Congregational Church
OHA will set up a table.
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Officers:
Jeffrey Young, President
William Mucha, Vice-President
Helen Bechan, Secretary
Kathryn Young, Treasurer
Linda Housman, Curator

The building has a rich history
of revolutionary conspiracies,
home of the Fobes family,
and as the town’s first Post
Office.

Directors :
Wesley Dwelly
Eva Grimes

It now serves as a meeting Kenneth Housman

place for the OHA and a mu-

seum for everyone to enjoy. ~ Work Meetings:  1st Wed, 7pm

Regular Meetings: 3rd Wed, 7pm

OAKHAM FIFTH GRADE HISTORICAL WALK

In what has become a yearly event, the Oakham Historical Association hosted an educational
tour though the center of town on June 20t. This year’s class included 42 students from Oakham and
New Braintree, along with their teachers. The president of the Oakham Historical Museum, Jeff
Young, and Association member Lee Dougan, narrated a walking tour from the Oakham Center
School on Deacon Allen Drive up to the center of town and back, pointing out various buildings and
markers along the route while explaining their historical significance to the town and its citizens.

Some of the more prominent people from Oakham lived in the center of town: the Allens,
the Deans, the Crawfords and the Wrights to mention just a few. Others that played major roles in
Oakham’s past include Reverend Daniel Tomlinson, who was Oakham’s first Congregational minister
and remained in that position for 56 years. Oakham’s well respected doctor, Spencer Field, died in 1801
as a result of Oakham’s first traffic fatality. While going to visit a patient in the late evening, he was
knocked off of his horse by two men racing back from New Braintree and died from his head injuries.
Other lesser known celebrities include a local blacksmith who cracked the original church bell with his
hammer as he sounded the alarm for a fire in town. Many of the stories will soon be forgotten by the
fifth graders but one that may linger the longest is the story of James Mulholland who took off his
shoes and socks and armed with only a stick boldly entered “Rattlesnake Cave” and killed all the rep-
tiles that lived there. The one bite that he did receive was treated with salt and chewing tobacco and he
lived to retell his story for many years to come.

Being the anniversary of the Civil War, the children were taken to the grave of the only Civil
War soldiet butied in the Church Cemetery. Ironically, this soldier, Chatles Frew, never lived in Oak-
ham and was born and raised in the Confederate state of North Carolina. He was recruited by the Un-
ion Army in 1862 while they occupied the northeastern part of the state. He moved to Massachusetts
after the war and his last known residence was in North Brookfield.

The weather was beautiful and the class was able to get out of the classroom on their next to
last day of school. That was sufficient enough reason to tolerate a history lesson, but every year each

student gets to ring the church bell and that always seems to be the highlight of the day. Lee Dougan

Featured Artifact

In the 1820s and 1830s braiding straw to make into bonnets and hats was a common
household activity throughout many rural New England towns.
done by the farmer’s wife and the children, including boys. This cottage industry provided
extra income for the family and the braided straw could also be used to obtain credit at the
store or with other area merchants.

The straw hat business in Oakham was operated by brothers John B. and James C.

— Braided Straw Bonnet

If the ribbons on this
bonnet were in perfect
condition, the bow on
top would stand up
smartly and the solid
pink ribbon would form
a beautiful flower.

The braiding was usually

Fairbank during the mid-1830s. The business was located on the northeast corner of the
town common in a brick building that once housed the “Center School.” They conducted a
successful straw hat business in Oakham, Ware, and Brooklyn, N.Y. until the 1840s when
they switched over to the less complicated method of using palm leaves for hat making. By
1846, there were no straw bonnets made in Oakham, but palm leaf dealers in Oakham con-
tinued business until about 1855.

Braiding the straw and making the bonnet involved several steps. First, the winter rye was harvested in June. The stalks were cut
into 8” to 10” lengths, dipped in boiling water and dried in the sun for about a month. Next came a one hour bleaching process using
sulfur fumes or brimstone, followed by moistening the straw for pliability and splitting it with a special tool. The shaping of the bonnet
began with 5 yards of braid being wound around an 18” board and left to dry for several more days. After the braids were sewn together,
the bonnet would be placed on a birch block and pressed with a hot iron. The final step required another sulfur bleaching. This bonnet in
the OHA collection was made using a 9-strand braid, although the most common strands of braid were 7-strand (Dunstable) and 11-
strand (Leghorn). About 70 yards of braid were needed for an ordinary bonnet. Children could braid about 12 yards a day and would
earn 3 cents a yard. A bonnet sold for about $1.25.

Photo: Tom Saupé

Research by Lee Dougan; compiled by Edie Mathis




ELECTRIFYING OAKHAM

Most of us do not remember a time when a flip of a switch did not turn on a light. We don’t give the convenience of electrici-
ty a second thought until there is a power outage and then we complain because we have to reset all the clocks. It seems hard to believe
that electricity was not available in Oakham until 1927, less than 90 years ago. In fact E.V. Newton and Ralph Downer had to wait until
1947 before The Gardner Electric Company extended the lines to their homes on Lincoln Road.

Before the 20t century, candles and whale oil lamps provided limited illumination for night time activities. The next major
breakthrough in lighting technology, the kerosene lantern, didn’t occur until the early 1800’s. By 1900, each night the kerosene street
lights in Oakham center were still being manually lit and then manually extinguished. Each year in those early days, the annual Town
Warrant included an Article asking “... if the Town will provide for lighting the street lamps,...” Some of the early lamplighters were
Frank Conant, Harlan Angier, Clement Ayres, G. T. Butterfield and Edmund Cody.

Another form of lighting that had limited use in Oakham was the carbide lamp. Acetylene gas was produced by mixing calci-
um carbide with water. Self-contained units were used for lamps, miner’s helmets and early Model T Ford headlights, but a large acety-
lene generator could supply enough gas to illuminate the entire house with many gas lamps and to heat the kitchen range.

Before 1927 there were some people in Oakham who generated their own electricity with water power. Joseph Potter, who
owned a gas station in Coldbrook Springs, was one such individual. He dammed up a section of Parker’s Brook (Cold Brook) and used
a water wheel to generate enough electricity for his own needs.
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OAKHAM’S WHEN AND WATT TIMELINE

1891:  Electric service begins in Gardner.
1894:  First Electric Railway in Gardner.
1906:  Dam and hydroelectric generating plant is built on the Connecticut River at Vernon, Vermont.
1910:  Transmission lines provide electric power to industties in central Massachusetts.
1912:  Gardner Electric Light and Power Company merges with Commonwealth Gas and Electric.
Holden is purchasing electricity from Connecticut River Light and Power Company to supply 69 customers.

Barre Hotel and the center of town are now wired for electricity.

1912 Oakham Annual Report:
Article #20. To see if the town will vote to choose a committee to “enquire” into the “feasibility” of establishing electric
lights in the town, or pass any vote relative thereto.

A new vault is purchased for the town hall and is wired for electric lights.

1914 Oakham Annual Report:
Article #20. To see if the town will vote to choose a committee to” enquire” into the “feasibility” of establishing electric
lights in the town, or pass any vote relative thereto.

1920 Oakham Annual Report:
Article #16. To see if the town will vote to choose a committee to “investigate” into the “probability” of securing electric
lights in Oakham.

1921 Oakham Annual Report:
Electric Light Report read at town meeting.

1922-1924: No further action taken.
1925 Oakham Town Report:

To see if the town will vote to discharge the Electric Light Committee. §
1926 Oakham Town Report:

To see what action the town will take toward installing electric lights in Oakham.

Oakham’s first electric bill is paid to the Chatlton Poor Farm ($69.67).

Continued on next page.




Continued from page 2.

1926: Gardner Electric Company is advertising in the Barre Gazette: End  “ wash day drudgery” wi
1927:  On February 7t at the annual town meeting Oakham votes in favor of installing electricity in the town with an overwhelming
majority (59-6). John P. Day, George S. Butler and Sylvester R. Dean are appointed to the Electric Light Committee.
On April 12th a Municipal Electric Light Department is created whereby all the poles, lines and equipment will be owned by the
town of Oakham and the electricity will be purchased from the Gardner Electric Light Company. The established electrical rate
is $15 per kilowatt hour. (Note the current rate is about 15¢ per kWh. Thank you notes can be sent in care of National Grid. )
Contracts with Mr. Nelson of North Dana are made to set pole and string lines. - S
Service will be furnished to the villages of Oakham and Coldbrook and lines will &, Could this be the East Hill Road gang??? '
be extended to the farms of John P. Day, Sylvester Dean and Clayton C. Adams
as well as to homes on East Hill Road. Both villages will acquire about 10 street |
lights each. ‘
$15,000 is borrowed to construct electric light lines.
Service comes to Oakham as an extension of the Batre system by way of White
Valley.
Some poles are purchased by the town but more than 500 poles are donated to
the town.
Residents on East Hill Road donated the poles for their street and dug the post holes.
As the electric lines made their way from Coldbrook Springs to Oakham center, people found ways to commemorate the event.
By August, electricity had made its way up to the North Four Corners (Coldbrook Road and Old Turnpike Road and on August
6th the Sarah Lee family and the Charles Grimes family celebrated with dancing and refreshments.
Lights are turned on for the first time in the village of Oakham on Old Home Day, August 24, 1927. Wright Memorial
Park was also dedicated that day, but the first ball game under the lights would have to be postponed for a few more years.
On September 5th, Stanley Electric Company of Barre wires the O’Donnell house (now the Historical Museum) with electricity.
The Congregational church is being wired for electricity by “Electrician Fuller of West Brookfield.”
Mrs. Alfred W. Place celebrates Christmas early this year with electric lights throughout her house, and she also installs a water
pump and a new washing machine. Life is good!
1928 Annual Town Report:
Paid $3856.30 to Gardner Electric Light Company.
Received $3824.40 from Oakham residents ($101.40 is stilled owed to the town).
Town of Oakham paid $600 for town street lights.
Oakham sells all the electric light lines to Gardner Electric Company for $22,092.43 and is no longer in the electric light busi-
ness. The Electric Light Committee is discharged.
1930: Under the direction of Percy Wilbur, the cottages at Dean Reservoir are being connected to the Gardner Electric grid system.
1947:  World War II is over, the baby boomers have begun their lifelong journey and finally E.V. Newton and Ralph Downer have
moved into the electrical age.
2011:  Jordan Dairy Farm in Rutland, MA becomes the first farm in the country to produce energy from an anaerobic digester. The

anaerobic digester uses microorganisms to break down organic waste and converts this into electric energy. Each cow on his

farm can produce enough electricity to power an entire house.

John P. Day, town selectman and owner of a large dairy farm on New Braintree Road during the 1900s, spent years trying to
get electricity to his farm. Little did he know it was there all the time.

It took 36 years to get electricity from Gardner to Oakham, but once the vote was approved it took less than four months for the light

switches to be turned on in town. If not for the work of the Oakham Electric Light Committee in 1927, residents might still be watch-

ing cable television by candle light.

Lee Dougan




A Warm Welcome to New Members Remembrance Donations Curator’s Corner

and Special Support A sincere thank you to the following people for

Car?l Beckwith, Eastqn, ME . Anonyrnous their recent donations to the Historical Museum.
Chris Chute & Stephanie Metivier, Oakha e oreshn Harold Denisquest, Oakham:

Betty Dean Custer Cutting, Shelburne, V Masonic memorabilia

. 1 Bowk .
Cynthia DeLacey, Charlton Gladys Bowker Frances Bechan SalminerCkgtate, courtesy
Elaine Griffith. Oakham Thelma (Stace) Crawford of Jordan Dean: clothing, hats, purses

Betty & Kent Montgomery, Oakham Sue Parsons Jensen Richard & Barbara Bebsitham: WWII army
Tabitha Tashjian dress coat, butter churn

Richard & Robin Oliver, Worcester Bernice Stangkham: Hank Stone memorabilia

. i Allen Weagl. .
Ed & Janice Zysk, Swanville, ME en eage Valena Bechan Font@ifiéam: 1950s prom dress

DO YOU KNOW... WHO MADE THE COFFINS IN OAKHAM?

Eliakim Morse was born in 1780 in Franklin, MA. After marrying Lucinda Pond in 1808, he moved for a few years to West Spring-
field. Then in February of 1816, Eliakim and Lucinda Morse moved to Oakham.

Among the artifacts at the Oakham Historical Museum is the account book of Eliakim Mortse, spanning the years 1816 through 1828.
A person’s account book is a very interesting document, from which you can learn about the type of work an individual performed,
who they did business with, and the value of goods and services. The common structure of account books at this time is that they are
arranged first by the person they do business with, then chronologically for that person. Every two pages are for a different person,
with the page on the left describing what the account book owner did or sold to the person, and the right page how it was paid off.
Sometimes years pass before things are settled with the other person.

In the case of Eliakim Morse, we learn that he performed carpentry related work, fixing sleighs, chairs, etc., and he also rented out the
use of his horse and wagon, separate or in combination, and it appears he occasionally loaned money. Among the items he would sell
were coffins. Over the course of the years contained in the account book, the coffins range in price from $1.25 for a very small child,
to $4.50 for an adult, the exception being “Adin Bullard one cherry coffin $11.” The book does not specify the size of the coffin, but
by matching the buyer and date to our genealogical information, you can determine who was to be buried in the coffin.

Mr. Morse served as undertaker until about 1840, at which time his sons, John N. and Hiram C. took over the business. Two years
later, the Morse brothers turned the business over to James W. Packard who continued the business for the next 57 years.

Mr. Eliakim Morse, father of nine, died in 1872 at the age of 91 years. I e

Oakham’s Townwide Yard Sale OAKHAM NEWS FROM THE PAST

on August 24th was a great success. August 3, 1892: “One of our farmers has very kindly given us the following figures con-
This yeat’s team of organizers, OHA cerning the milk industry in Oakham: During the month of June , 5638 cans of milk were
members Lucy Tessnau and Linda
Saupé, took advantage of the exper-
tise gained over the last eight years
under the past leadership of Lucy A ¢ 10. 1892:
and Hazel Young,. b )

sent from the West School Disttict, 5150 cans were sent from Coldbrook station, and 986
cans from Rice Corner.” The Oakham Herald

“Over 100 attended the picnic at Burt’s Grove last Saturday. A very
pleasant time was spent in fishing, croquet, round ball, foot races, etc. At 2 o’clock the
Their hard work paid off royally. company went to Coldbrook to witness the ball game.”

Thirty-nine sellers set up tables at
their homes on this absolutely per- “The game of ball between Coldbrooks and Oakhams at Coldbrook last Saturday resulted

fect day—cool, dry and lots of sun. in a defeat for Oakhams. The Oakham boys have had scarcely any practice and were not

1 the rul ions.”
More than 245 maps were handed e L e T I G e e PRl

out and traffic jams were reported at “Tty a can of Lunch Tongue. Just the thing for picnics. Conant has it.” The Oakham Heral

a couple locations. February 19, 1909: “Hen thieves visited this town Friday night, and stole 30 hens from

The OHA extends sincere thanks George Briggs, Jr., 12 from Miss Clark, Coldbrook, and 13 from Russell Arnold. The

to all who contributed to the success thief is known and has been suspected for some time.” The Brookfield Times, Oakham
of this fundraiser. Remember, don’t

throw anything a March 5, 1909: “Hen thieves should be careful how they wear their jewelry when visiting

away—save it for i\ hen roosts. Report says some called at a certain henhouse and took three fowls, wringing
next year’s town

ide vard salel their necks on the spot. One of them lost a society pin. The blood stains on the snow
wide yard sale!

served as a guide to where the men lived. The pin was shown and claimed by one of the
men. One of the searching party asked him what he was going to do about the hens. He
turned to the owner and said, ‘How much will you settle for?” “Ten dollars’ was the reply.
The money was paid.” The Brookfield Times, Oakham News




